1981

Eddy N. Betenson, et al. v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., a Utah Corporation, et al. and Eugene L. Lowin and Geneva Lowin v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., a Utah Corporation, et al. :
Brief of Appellants

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

These Appeals are taken from two Orders entered by the Honorable James S. Sawaya, Judge of the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, on or about January 28, 1981, dismissing with prejudice the Complaints on file in these actions as against Defendant-Respondent Fireman's Fund Insurance Companies only. These Appeals are also taken

from two further Orders entered by the District Court denying Appellants' motions to modify the Orders of Dismissal and entering final Judgments in favor of Respondents insofar as those Orders denied Appellants leave to amend. The Complaints in both actions, insofar as relevant herein, sought recovery under a Motor Vehicle Dealer's Bond issued by Respondent in favor of Defendant Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc. The two actions have been consolidated for all purposes, including Appeal.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellants request this Court to reverse the Judgments appealed from and remand this case to the District Court for further proceedings.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

These actions, which have been consolidated for all purposes¹, were commenced to recover money loaned by Plaintiffs to Defendant Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc. ("Call Auto") in essentially identical transactions.²

Appellants allege in their Complaints (B.R.2 & 42; L.R.2) that they were induced through fraud to pay money to

¹ The transcript in the Betenson case will be cited as "B.R." and the transcript in the Lowin case as "L.R."

² The allegations of both Complaints insofar as relevant to these appeals and to the claims against Respondent are for all intents and purposes the same. Respondent was not named as a Defendant in the original Complaint in the Betenson action. However, an Amendment to Complaint was filed on or about October 15, 1980, adding a cause of action against Respondent on its Dealer's Bond issued in favor of Call Auto (B.R.42).

Call Auto, which was engaged in the business as a motor vehicle dealer, in consideration for Call Auto's promise to repay Appellants' money together with a guaranteed profit in specified installments. Call Auto represented and agreed that all monies paid by Appellants would be at all times fully secured by property and equipment owned by Call Auto. Subsequently, Call Auto fraudulently disposed of substantially all of the property and equipment which Call Auto represented would serve as security for Appellants' indebtedness without regard to Appellants' security interest in that property and equipment and failed to repay Appellants as agreed.

The Complaints seek recovery against Respondent under a Dealer's Bond issued in favor of Call Auto in the amount of \$20,000.00 pursuant to the provisions of Section 41-3-16, Utah Code Annotated (1953). Pursuant to the terms of the bond, Respondent agreed to pay any claims or judgments against Call Auto for violation of the Motor Vehicle Act or fraud.

In each transaction entered into with Appellants, Call Auto executed with Appellants a standard form agreement which Call Auto had prepared.³ The form agreements each recited that Call Auto had approached each Appellant for the purpose of entering into an investment in Call Auto's business "as a type of joint venture", that Call Auto was going to use the funds in buying and selling various types of personal property and

³ All the agreements between Appellants and Call Auto were attached to the Complaints as exhibits (B.R.20-32; L.R.7). A copy of the form agreement entered into between Call Auto and the Lowin Appellants is attached hereto as Appendix A for the Court's reference.

equipment at a profit "in its business" and that Call Auto guaranteed to pay to each Appellant "as his or her share of the profits and investments" certain specific amounts in installment. In some cases, Call Auto even executed promissory notes (B.R. 28).

Respondent subsequently moved to dismiss both Complaints as against it on the basis that Call Auto and Appellants were, as a matter of law, joint venturers with respect to Call Auto's business, and, consequently, Appellants were not entitled to the protection of the Dealer's Bond (B.R. 100&134-142; L.R. 23).

On or about January 28, 1981, the Trial Court granted the Motions to Dismiss with prejudice in both actions on the basis that the "joint venture" language of the form agreements conclusively established a joint venture between the parties as a matter of law. Therefore, the Court concluded Appellants were not entitled to the protection of the Dealer's Bond (B.R. 144&156; L.R. 28-29).

Appellants subsequently filed motions to reconsider the Orders of Dismissal or to at least modify those Orders to allow Appellants leave to amend the Complaints (B.R. 169; L.R. 30). These motions were denied by the District Court in February 1981, and, pursuant to Rule 54(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, the District Court directed that final judgment be entered in favor of Respondent in both actions (B.R. 174; L.R. 36).

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRED IN RULING AS A MATTER OF LAW THAT APPELLANTS WERE NOT ENTITLED TO RECOVER UNDER RESPONDENT'S BOND.

The sole question before the District Court was whether, accepting the allegations of the Complaints in these actions as true, the Complaints nevertheless failed to state a claim against Respondent upon which relief could be granted. One author has stated the standard by which a Motion to Dismiss should be considered as follows:

"For the purposes of the motion, the well-pleaded facts are taken as admitted. . . . A complaint should not be dismissed for insufficiency unless it appears to a certainty that plaintiff is entitled to no relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of the claim. Pleadings are to be liberally construed." (2A Moore's Federal Practice, Sec. 12.08 at pp. 2266-74)

See also, Motivated Management Intern. v. Finney, 604 P.2d 469 (Ut. 1979); Barrus v. Wilkinson, 398 P.2d 207 (Ut. 1965); King Bros., Inc. v. Utah Dry Kiln Co., 374 P.2d 254 (Ut. 1962).

Even if a Complaint fails to state a claim it is an abuse of discretion for a Court to deny leave to amend, "if it appears at all possible that the Plaintiff can correct the defect." 2A Moore's Federal Practice, Sec. 15.10; Topping v. Fry, 147 F.2d 715 (7th Cir. 1945) ("Litigation is not an art in nice pleadings. It can and should seldom be settled on its merits at the pleading stage. . . .")

When viewed according to the standards set forth above Appellants respectfully submit that the Judgments

appealed from should be reversed on the following grounds:

A. It is settled in Utah that a person who loans money to a motor vehicle dealer is entitled to protection under the Dealer's Bond.

B. Whether a joint venture or debtor-creditor relationship existed in these actions is a question of fact to be determined based upon all the facts and circumstances concerning the relationship between the parties and not solely from the terminology employed by Call Auto in its form agreements.

C. Even if the language of the form agreements is conclusive, as a matter of law, as to the existence of a joint venture, it is clear that the provisions of the agreements do not legally constitute a joint venture but rather create a debtor-creditor relationship between the parties.

D. In the event the Court feels the allegations of the present Complaints are inadequate to state a cause of action, substantial evidence exists in these cases that none of the parties, including Call Auto, intended to enter into joint ventures but rather intended and believed they had entered into loan transactions and Appellants should be allowed to amend their Complaints to more specifically allege that they entered into loan transactions with Call Auto and not joint ventures.

A. A PERSON LOANING MONEY TO A MOTOR VEHICLE DEALER IS ENTITLED TO PROTECTION UNDER THE DEALER'S BOND.

Pursuant to Section 41-3-16, Utah Code Annotated (1953), no person can engage in business as a motor vehicle dealer without

first obtaining a bond in the penal sum of \$20,000.00 to protect the public. Section 41-3-18, Utah Code Annotated (1953), specifies the members of the public who are entitled to protection under such bond.

"If any person shall suffer any loss or damage by reason of fraud, fraudulent representation or violation of any of the provisions of this act by a licensed dealer or one of his salesmen . . . such person shall have a right of action against such dealer . . . and/or the sureties upon their respective bonds." (Emphasis added)

This statute should be broadly construed to protect all persons doing business with a motor vehicle dealer. Western Surety Co. v. Redding, 626 P.2d 437 (Ut. 1981).

There is really no dispute between the parties that, as made clear by this Court in the case of Lawrence v. Ward, 300 P.2d 619 (Ut. 1956), a person loaning money to a motor vehicle dealer is entitled to the protection of the Dealer's Bond in accordance with the broad language of Section 41-3-18.

In Lawrence, the bank which financed the Defendant motor vehicle dealer's business recovered a Judgment against the dealer's bonding company for the fraud of the dealer. On appeal, the bonding company argued that the financier of a motor vehicle dealer's business was not within the class of persons intended by the statute to be protected by the bond. This Court rejected that contention and held that the financier of the motor vehicle dealer's business was entitled to be protected by the bond, quoting from the case of Commercial Standard Insurance Company v. West, 249 P.2d 830, 832 as follows:

"The statute in question encompasses and the bond is given to cover the business of selling used cars. That this is more than just the actual sale or exchange of a used car is apparent from the statute itself. . . . A person who engages in the used car business, as in any business, must concern himself not alone with selling but with all the myriad details required to conduct such a business. That each part of the business contributes to the total success or failure is patent.

"'Also the statute itself is broader, we believe, in allowing recovery against a principal and his surety by persons injured by the unlawful acts of the dealer than the narrow construction contended for by Appellant.'"

See, also, Massachusetts Bonding & Insurance Co. v. Central Finance Co., 237 P.2d 1079 (Colo. 1951).

Thus, if Appellants should be able to establish at trial that they were induced to loan money to Call Auto through fraud and have suffered damages as a proximate result of such fraud, then Plaintiffs are entitled to recover on Call Auto's Dealer Bond issued by Respondent.

B. WHETHER A JOINT VENTURE EXISTED BETWEEN THE PARTIES IS A QUESTION OF FACT TO BE DETERMINED AT THE TRIAL BASED UPON ALL THE FACTS AND CIRCUMSTANCES AND NOT MERELY FROM THE LANGUAGE OF THE AGREEMENTS.

Although, as argued below, Appellants do not believe that the language of the form agreement is such as to legally constitute a joint venture, even if the agreement on its face appeared to provide for a joint venture, the agreement would not

be conclusive as to whether a joint venture in fact existed.

In order to establish a joint venture, it must be demonstrated that:

1. The parties intended to establish a joint venture;
2. That they have an agreement to share the profits and losses of the venture;
3. That they have a proprietary interest in the business; and
4. That they have a right of mutual control over the subject matter of the venture.

For example, in Bassett v. Baker, 530 P.2d 1 (Ut. 1974), the Plaintiff and Defendant entered into an oral agreement pursuant to which Plaintiff agreed to purchase 100 head of cattle, Defendant would care for the cattle, the offspring would be sold by Plaintiff and the profits divided equally. There was no agreement as to the sharing of losses should any occur. The trial court held that the relationship between the parties was that of joint venturers, ordered Defendant to account for certain calves which he had in his possession and held the parties would have to equally share the losses if any there were. In reversing the trial court's judgment and holding that no joint venture existed, this Court stated:

"A joint venture is an agreement between two or more persons ordinarily but not necessarily limited to a single transaction for the purpose of making a profit. The requirements for the relationship are not exactly defined, but certain elements are essential: The parties must

combine their property, money, effects, skill, labor and knowledge. As a general rule, there must be a community of interest in the performance of the common purpose, a joint proprietary interest in the subject matter, a mutual right of control, a right to share in the profits, and unless there is an agreement to the contrary, a duty to share in any losses which may be sustained.

"While the agreement to share losses need not necessarily be stated in specific terms, the agreement must be such as to permit the court to infer that the parties intend to share losses as well as profits." (Id. at 2)

Each of the prerequisites set forth above presents a factual issue which cannot be answered on a Motion to Dismiss simply because the written agreements prepared by Call Auto used "joint venture" language, but rather must be determined based upon all of the facts, circumstances and conduct of the parties.

Thus, in Bender v. Bender, 397 P.2d 957, 962 (Mont. 1965), the Court stated:

"To establish a joint venture or a partnership, it is necessary to determine the intent of the parties; such business relationships arise only when the parties intend to associate themselves as such. . . . there must be a joint proprietary interest and a right of mutual control over the subject matter of the enterprise or over the property engaged therein, and there must be an agreement to share the profits. . . . the intention of the parties has to be clearly manifested . . . and must be ascertained from all the facts and circumstances and the actions and conduct of the parties." (Emphasis added)

In Vineland Homes v. Barish, 292 P.2d 941, 947 (Cal. 1956), the Court, quoting from Lusher v. Silver, 161 P.2d 472, 473, said:

"In the last analysis the fact of partnership depends upon the intention of the parties. To determine this intent not only the words of the agreement itself, but the actions and conduct of the parties may be considered." (Emphasis added)

Likewise, in Porter v. Moore, 300 P.2d 513 (Mont. 1956)

the Court observed:

"The appellant Porter complains that the District Court erred in determining that the contract entered into between the parties did not constitute a partnership. However, the existence of a partnership depends upon the intention of the parties which must be ascertained from all the facts and circumstances and the actions and conduct of the parties. . . . While both parties referred to the agreement as a partnership, in their pleadings and in their testimony, and both purported to have pleaded the alleged terms of the agreement nevertheless the allegation of 'partnership' is but a legal conclusion and neither the trial court nor the appellate court will be bound by nomenclature to the exclusion of substance." (Id at p. 517-518) (Emphasis added)

And, in Simpson v. Bates, 239 P.2d 749 (Ut. 1952),

Defendant Simpson and Cross-Complainant Saunders were two licensed used car dealers who did business from the same used car lot and shared the rent, telephone, furnishings and buildings on the car lot. The sign on the premises read, "Used Cars" with Saunders' name at one end and Simpson's at the other. When one of them sold a car belonging to the other, he was paid a fee of \$25.00.

In the transaction at issue there, Defendant Simpson had sold a car to a customer but Cross-Claimant Saunders was going to arrange the financing for the customer so Saunders filled out the contract with the customer showing himself as

seller. Defendant Simpson failed to deliver title to the car to the customer and Cross-Claimant Saunders sought to recover from Simpson's bonding company certain amounts he had been required to pay the finance company. The bonding company argued Saunders could not recover because he was a joint venturer with Simpson on the sale of the car. In rejecting this contention and affirming the judgment against the bonding company on the basis that Saunders and Simpson were not joint venturers because they had no agreement to nor did they share profits, this Court went behind the terms of the subject sales agreement showing Saunders as the seller (which if true would have precluded recovery on Simpson's bond), and examined the real nature and substance of the transaction which showed Saunders was not in fact the seller.

The rationale of the District Court's decision seems clear. That is, if Appellants were joint venturers or partners with Call Auto such that they had a right to or did in fact participate in the operation of Call Auto's business, Appellants were, in effect, co-owners of the business which obtained the bond for the protection of the public and should not be entitled to the protection of that bond. Assuming this reasoning is correct, the existence of a joint venture between the parties should be determined based upon what the parties intended and

what really happened, not by artificially limiting the inquiry to a few words from the form agreement. Based upon the foregoing authorities, it seems clear that neither the Court nor the parties are bound by the nomenclature used by Call Auto in its form agreement and that a factual issue is presented which must be resolved at trial.

C. EVEN IF THE LANGUAGE OF THE FORM AGREEMENT WERE BINDING, THAT LANGUAGE IS NOT SUFFICIENT TO LEGALLY CONSTITUTE A JOINT VENTURE.

As previously stated, the form agreements which were prepared by Call Auto recited that Appellants were paying money to Call Auto "as a type of joint venture" (whatever that is), that Call Auto was going to use that money to purchase and sell property at a profit "in its business" and that Call Auto guaranteed to pay Appellants a guaranteed "profit" in specified installments regardless of whether Call Auto made any profit in its business or the amount of such profits. Furthermore, the monies paid by Appellants were required to be fully secured by Call Auto at all times. And, in some of the transactions, Call Auto even executed promissory notes in favor of Appellants. The provisions of the form agreements on their face are not sufficient to constitute a joint venture under the standards set forth above.

First, it is clear under the agreements that the business is solely Call Auto's business and that Appellants are given no proprietary interest therein whatsoever and no right of control over the subject matter of the enterprise.

Second, although the agreements speak in terms of paying Appellants a share of the profits, there is no question but that the agreements in reality simply guarantee that Appellants will be paid a set amount regardless of the profits or losses realized by Call Auto in its business. To secure these debts, the agreements purported to grant security interests in Call Auto's assets to Appellants. The Court faced a similar situation in Marnon v. Vaughan Motor Co., 194 P.2d 992 (Ore. 1948). In that case, the Plaintiff had invented a lift truck and the parties entered into an agreement pursuant to which Defendant was to produce the lift truck. Plaintiff set up dealerships throughout the country and was to receive eight percent of gross sales. The Court held that the agreement did not constitute a joint venture, saying:

"He (Marnon) was not at that time, under any definition of joint adventure that we have seen or within the holding of any case to which we have been referred, a joint adventurer with Vaughan, because he did not share in the profits of the business as such, but under his agreement was entitled to his compensation of eight percent whether there were profits or not." (Emphasis added)

Moreover, even if the agreements in the present case gave Appellants a share of the profits of Call Auto, that fact would not be conclusive as to the existence of a joint venture if it is shown that Appellants were being paid those profits in repayment of a loan and not because they were co-owners of the business. Thus, Utah Code Annotated, Section 48-1-4(4), provides as follows:

"The receipt by a person of a share of the profits of a business is prima facie evidence that he is a partner in the business, but no such inference shall be drawn if such profits were received in payment:

"(a) As a debt by installments or otherwise.

"(d) As interest on a loan, though the amounts of payment vary with the profits of the business."

To the same effect, see Hayes v. Killinger, 385 P.2d 747 (Ore. 1963); True v. High Plains Elevator Machinery, Inc., 577 P.2d 991 (Wy. 1974); Nelson v. Abraham, 177 P.2d 931 (Cal. 1947).

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