1981

Eddy N. Betenson, et al. v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., a Utah Corporation, et al. and Eugene L. Lowin and Geneva Lowin v. Call Auto & Equipment Sales, Inc., a Utah Corporation, et al. :
Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

A. Appellants Have Judicially Admitted They Were Joint Venturers.

Appellants, by their own admissions, were engaged in joint ventures with the defendants. In paragraph 7 of the Betenson Complaint, appellants allege:

Said defendant represented to Betenson that if he would invest funds for a joint venture to purchase, reburish and sell such equipment, . . . Betenson would receive a guaranteed profit for his investment. (R. 3).

In paragraph 8 of the Betenson complaint, appellants allege that the investments alleged in the complaints, as represented by the agreements attached as exhibits to the complaints, were made "in reliance upon such representations". Accordingly, appellants admit they made their investments and signed the agreements with the understanding that they

would be engaged in a joint venture with the defendants to purchase, refurbish and sell equipment to make a profit.

The allegations of joint ventures in the complaints are binding judicial admissions and appellants cannot now assert a position directly contrary to their pleadings.

As stated in 4 Wigmore on Evidence (3rd ed.) 45, §1064:

The pleadings in a cause are, for the purposes of the use in that suit, not mere ordinary admissions . . . but judicial admissions, . . . ; i.e., they are not means of evidence, but a waiver of all controversy (so far as the opponent may desire to take advantage of them) and therefore a limitation of the issues.

The principle stated by Wigmore regarding judicial admissions in pleadings has been applied by this court. In Estate of Clarence Henry McFarland v. Holt, 18 Utah 2d 127, 417 P.2d 244 (1966), the executrix under a will sought to set aside an order confirming the sale of real property which had been entered pursuant to her own petition. The lower court denied the motion and this court affirmed, holding:

One who files a pleading asking the court to act thereon vouches for its verity and should not thereafter be permitted to repudiate it for the purpose of upsetting the action the court has taken pursuant to his request. Id. at 245.

Other jurisdictions have also applied this principle. In Myers v. Carter, 556 P.2d 703, (Or. 1976) the trial court was reversed for submitting an issue to the jury which was

admitted in a letter attached to and incorporated in the plaintiff's complaint. The Oregon court held:

Statements contained in the pleadings are considered conclusive judicial admissions. (Citations omitted) Thus, whatever evidence may have been adduced at trial, the facts contained in that letter are conclusively established. Id. at 707.

As stated in the above authorities, plaintiffs' allegations of joint ventures in their pleadings are not merely evidence which they may now refute with contrary claims, but are admissions which remove all controversy as to the relationship between appellants and the defendants. Based on appellants own pleadings there is no issue to be determined by the court or submitted to a jury concerning the relationships between appellants and defendants. It is conclusively established by appellants' judicial admissions that the relationship between the parties was that of joint venturers.

B. Appellants Are Bound by the Terms of the Written Agreements.

Appellants contend that although the written agreements expressly provide for a joint venture, they should be allowed to introduce evidence that the parties to the agreements intended otherwise. Appellants recite several factual allegations in their brief attempting to show intent contrary to the express provisions of the agreements. (Appellants' Brief, pp. 16-17) They also cite the cases of Bender v. Bender,

397 P.2d 957 (Mont. 1965), Porter v. Moore, 300 P.2d 513 (Mont. 1956) and Vineland Homes v. Barish, 292 P.2d 941 (Cal. App. 1956) in support of their argument that the intent of the parties rather than the express provisions of the written agreements should govern. Each of those cases is distinguishable from the factual setting presented by this appeal. Bender and Porter involve disputes between the parties to the alleged partnership agreement. Vineland Homes involves an oral partnership agreement, the terms and existence of which must, of necessity, be proved by parol evidence.

In this case, respondent is not a party to the written agreements executed by appellant which created the joint ventures. Although the intention of the parties to a contract may govern their contractual relationship, as to third parties the express language of the contract governs. James Weller, Inc. v. Hansen, 517 P.2d 1110 (Ariz. App. 1973); Stearns v. Williams, 240 P.2d 833 (Idaho 1952); Lepel v. Lepel, 456 P.2d 249 (Idaho 1969).

In James Weller, Inc. v. Hansen, supra, plaintiffs Hansen and Cherokee Construction Company were involved in several real estate transactions. Cherokee deeded property to Hansen, who obtained financing to build thereon. Hansen deeded the property back to Cherokee, which started construction and contracted with Weller to perform dry wall and paint-

ing work. After construction was completed, Cherokee deeded the property back to Hansen. Subsequently, Weller filed a mechanics lien, naming Cherokee as owner. Cherokee received timely notice, but Hansen did not receive notice of the lien until three months later. After receiving notice of the lien, Hansen brought an action against Weller to quiet title and Weller counterclaimed to foreclose its lien. Hansen defended the counterclaim on the grounds that he had not received proper and timely notice of the lien. Weller contended that a joint venture existed between Hansen and Cherokee and the notice to Cherokee was therefore adequate notice to Hansen. The lower court granted judgment to Hansen, but the Appellate Court reversed, holding that a joint venture did exist as to Weller, a third party. The court stated:

While the intent of the parties is essential as between the parties, where there is a clear and unambiguous contract, as here, the contract controls as to Weller, a third party.

* * * *

. . . The intent of the contracting parties to form a partnership is always an essential element of a partnership relation as between the parties themselves, but as to third parties, the relation will be determined from the facts rather than the conclusions of the co-partners as to the nature of their business relationship.

Id., 517 P.2d at 1114-15, citing Mercer v. Vinson, 336 P.2d 854, 858 (Ariz. 1959).

The agreements in the present case are consistent and unambiguous. They expressly provide that the purpose of the agreements is "entering into an investment . . . as a type of joint venture." Consistent with that purpose the agreements provide that the investments are to be used "in buying and selling various types of personal property and equipment at a profit" and that appellants are to receive certain payments "as his or her share of the profits and investment." There is no uncertainty or ambiguity on the face of the agreements as to the nature of the relationship between the parties thereto. Accordingly, as to third parties such as respondent, appellants are bound by the express provisions of the agreements which they voluntarily signed while being represented and advised by counsel.

It is apparent from the agreements that particular care was taken in structuring the transactions and drafting the agreements as joint ventures so as to avoid the appearance of a loan. The terms "joint venture," "investments" and "profits" were specifically used in the agreements and terms such as loan, debt, note and interest are noticeably absent in the agreements. Although appellants' brief alleges notes were signed "in some cases," according to the pleadings a note was signed in connection with the agreements in only one instance. In that case, the note does not conform to

the agreement with respect to the dollar amount and the interest rate is conspicuously left blank. (R. 26-28).

The reasons the agreements specify joint ventures rather than loans are not totally clear from the record, but it is significant that the agreements, if deemed loans, would provide interest rates ranging from 30% to 120% per annum. Whatever the reasons for establishing joint ventures rather than loans, the written agreements are clear and unambiguous and govern as to third parties such as respondent.

POINT II

APPELLANTS ARE NOT ENTITLED TO LEAVE TO AMEND THEIR COMPLAINTS AND THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THEIR MOTION FOR RECONSIDERATION

After the trial court entered the orders dismissing the complaints, appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration or Modification of Order Granting Motion to Dismiss. The trial court's denial of that motion was correct and should be affirmed for the following reasons:

- A. Leave to Amend the Complaints was Not Timely Sought.

Appellants did not move for leave to amend their complaints prior to entry of the orders of dismissal. Appellants have never filed a proper motion for leave to amend the complaints. Nevertheless their Motions for Reconsideration state as a ground for the motions that they are entitled to

amend the complaints. This court has twice held that leave to amend a complaint will not be granted after an action has been dismissed. Nichols v. State, 554 P.2d 231 (Utah 1976); Steiner v. State, 27 Utah 2d 284, 495 P.2d 809 (1972).

In Nichols v. State, *supra*, the plaintiff filed a motion for leave to amend her complaint after the defendants' motion to dismiss had been granted. The trial court denied the motion for leave to amend and this court affirmed, holding:

Utah has adopted the majority rule that an order of dismissal is a final adjudication, and thereafter, a plaintiff may not file an amended complaint. Id. at 232.

Assuming, *arguendo*, appellants' motion for reconsideration is considered a motion for leave to amend, it was not timely and the trial court was correct in denying the motion.

B. Appellants' Motions for Reconsideration Are Not Proper Motions.

After entry of the orders dismissing their complaints, appellants filed Motions for Reconsideration on the alleged grounds that substantial evidence and authorities existed which had not been brought to the attention of the trial court. The motions did not purport to be made pursuant to Rules 59 or 60, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and none of the grounds for post-judgment relief under those rules were asserted.

In Drury v. Lunceford, 18 Utah 2d 74, 415 P.2d 662 (1966) the district court entered judgment in favor of the plaintiff in an automobile accident case. Two months later the judge granted defendants' motion for new trial. The plaintiff then filed a motion to reconsider and set aside the order granting new trial. That motion was granted and the original judgment reinstated by the trial court. On appeal, this court reversed and remanded the case to the trial court for a new trial, holding:

It is significant that our Rules of Civil Procedure do not provide for a motion for the trial court to reconsider or to review its ruling. . . Undoubtedly this is advisedly so. . . .

When this has been done and the court has ruled upon the motion, if the party ruled against were permitted to go beyond the rules, make a motion for reconsideration, and persuade the judge to reverse himself, the question arises, why should not the other party who is now ruled against be permitted to make a motion for re-re-consideration, asking the court to again reverse himself?

In order to avoid such a state of indecision for both the judge and the parties, practical expediency demands that there be some finality to the actions of the court, and he should not be in the position of having the further duty of acting as a court of review upon his own ruling.

Id. 415 P.2d at 663-64.

Although the trial court did hear appellants' motions for reconsideration, before denying them, it could have properly denied the motions without hearing.

C. Appellants' Proposed Amendments Would Directly Contradict Their Original Pleadings, Which Are Judicial Admissions.

Appellants argue they should be granted leave to amend their complaints to allege that the transactions between them and defendants were loans and not joint ventures. This is not a case of appellants having merely omitted an allegation essential to state a claim. Appellants pled the transactions as joint ventures and submitted the matter for decision to the lower court upon the premise that a joint venturer is entitled to recover against a dealer's bond. By the trial court's decision, appellants discovered they were not entitled to recover against respondent based on the facts pled. Failing there, appellants now want to change horses in midstream. They now argue they should have been allowed to amend their complaints to plead facts in direct contradiction to the facts pled in their original complaints.

The granting or denying of leave to amend is a matter within the discretion of the trial court and its ruling will be reversed only upon a finding that it abused its discretion. Wilson v. Lambert, 613 P.2d 765 (Utah 1980); Department of Social Services v. Romero, 609 P.2d 1323 (Utah 1980); Hoover Equipment Co. v. Smith, 198 Kan. 127, 422 P.2d 914 (1967). The trial court certainly did not abuse its discretion in denying appellants leave to amend their complaints to plead facts directly contrary to their prior admissions.

- D. Even if Appellants Had Been Granted Leave to Amend Their Complaints to Allege Loans Rather Than Joint Ventures, They Would Not Be Entitled to Recover Against the Dealer's Bond Because the Transactions, If Loans, Were Illegal and Unconscionable.

Under the Utah enactment of the Uniform Consumer Credit Code, §70B-3-602(1) Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, appellants' agreements with the defendants, if deemed loans, would be consumer related loans. Consumer-related loans to persons other than organizations are usurious and illegal if the finance charge exceeds 18%. §70B-3-201(1) and §70B-3-602(2). Appellants allege that the individual defendants, at all relevant times, dominated and controlled the corporate defendants such that the corporate defendants were merely their alter-ego and the separate entity of the corporations should be disregarded in this action. (R. 2, 3).

Based on the agreements incorporated in the complaints, appellants were to receive interest at the following rates if the transactions are deemed loans:

Eddie N. Betenson
120% per annum on \$7,000 - Exhibit A to Betenson
Complaint
60% per annum on \$10,000 - Exhibit B to Betenson
Complaint
60% per annum on \$2,000 - Exhibit C to Betenson
Complaint

Gregory Johnson
120% per annum on \$900 - Exhibit D to Betenson
Complaint

Alice Adams
60% per annum on \$2,000 - No exhibit

Randall Adams
60% per annum on \$6,000 - Exhibit G to Betenson
Complaint
45% per annum on \$10,000 - Exhibit H to Betenson
Complaint

Eugene and Genevia Lowin
30% per annum on \$30,000 - Exhibit A to Lowin
Complaint

Usurious loans are void and unenforceable. Ross v. Producers Mutual Insurance Co., 4 Utah 2d 396, 295 P.2d 339 (1956). See also §70B-5-301, Utah Code Ann. (1953), as amended, which makes it a misdemeanor to willfully charge more than the usury limit.

Since appellants' agreements with defendants, if deemed loans, are unenforceable, appellants would have no right to recover against the bond. Otherwise, appellants would benefit from their own illegal acts. Furthermore, respondent, as surety, cannot be held liable on the basis of a transaction or obligation which cannot be enforced against its principal. Accordingly, the trial court was correct in not allowing appellants to amend the complaints to allege their agreements were loans rather than joint ventures.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's ruling that appellants were engaged in joint ventures and are therefore not entitled to recover

against the bond was correct and should be affirmed for two reasons:

1. Appellants admitted in their pleadings that they invested money in joint ventures with the defendants. These allegations in the complaints constitute judicial admissions. Accordingly, there was no issue before the trial court as to the nature of the relationships between appellants and the defendants and the court properly applied the law to the facts as established by appellants' own pleadings.

2. The written agreements between appellants and the defendants were placed before the court by appellants. Those documents expressly provide, without ambiguity, that the agreements between appellants and the defendants are joint ventures and not loans. As to third parties such as respondent, the terms of the written agreements govern and appellants are not entitled to contradict those terms by extrinsic evidence of their intent.

The trial court properly denied appellants' motion for reconsideration for the following reasons:

1. To the extent appellants were requesting leave to amend their complaints by the motion for reconsideration, their request was untimely. Leave to amend a complaint cannot be granted after the complaint has been dismissed.

2. Motions to reconsider are not recognized under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure and this court has expressly held that such motions are improper.

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